IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

**Dec 03 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

\_\_\_\_\_  
APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appellate Case No.: 2019-002099  
\_\_\_\_\_

Machelle Smith.....Appellant,

-v-

Columbia Sussex Corporation d/b/a Hilton Head Marriott Resorts and Spa;  
Columbia Sussex Management, LLC; and,  
Columbia Properties Hilton Head, LLC.....Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**APPELLANT’S FINAL BRIEF**  
\_\_\_\_\_

John E. Parker, Jr.  
PETERS, MURDUAGH, PARKER, ELTZROTH,  
& DETRICK, P.A.  
101 Mulberry Street East  
Post Office Box 457  
Hampton, SC 29924

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING RESPONDENT IMMUNE FROM LIABILITY UNDER THE INKEEPER STATUTE OF S.C. CODE ANN. §45-1-40 AND GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO APPELLANT'S CLAIMS UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF *RESPONDEAT SUPERIOR*?**

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case arises from Appellant Machel Smith's ("Smith") claims against Respondent Columbia Sussex Corporation d/b/a Hilton Head Marriott Resorts & Spa, Columbia Sussex Management, LLC, and Columbia Properties, LLC (collectively referred to herein as "Columbia Sussex") over the theft of her personal property – jewelry – from Respondent's hotel room where Smith was a guest.

On March 31, 2016, Machel Smith brought this action in the Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas. (R. pp. 21-28). Her Complaint alleges that shortly after she checked into her room, an employee of Columbia Sussex entered Smith's room with an access key issued to her by Respondent and stole Smith's jewelry directly from her luggage. (R. pp. 24-25, ¶¶ 1-8). In her lawsuit Smith asserted a cause of action for negligence against Respondent Columbia Sussex, in numerous particulars. (R. pp. 25-27, ¶¶ 9-16). The lawsuit furthermore claimed that Respondent was responsible for the acts of its employee under the doctrine of *respondeat superior*. (R. p 26, ¶ 12).

Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment was filed and asserted entitlement to relief on numerous grounds, the core arguments centering upon the "Innkeeper" statute of S.C. Code Ann. §45-1-40. The Court granted summary judgment by Order of February 5, 2019. (R. pp. 3-18). Appellant timely filed her Motion to Alter, Amend, and/or Reconsider Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP on February 5, 2019. (R. pp. 98-100). The trial court entered an Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Alter, Amend, and/or Reconsider on November 19, 2019.

On December 18, 2019, Smith served her Notice of Appeal of two decisions by the trial court: (1) the November 19, 2019 Order Denying Plaintiff's Rule 59 Motion to Reconsider, Alter,

and/or Amend; and, (2) the February 5, 2019 Order granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On April 26, 2016, Machel Smith and her then-husband were registered guests of Columbia-Sussex's hotel/resort located on Hilton Head Island, South Carolina. (R. p. 25, ¶6; R. pp. 115-16). They were guests while Smith's husband attended a professional conference hosted by Respondent. (*Id.*) After checking into the hotel, Smith went to their assigned hotel room 618. Shortly after arriving at the room, Smith was due for a spa treatment that she had scheduled. After finishing at the spa she returned to Room 618 and realized that her jewelry was missing from her luggage, and she had secured the jewelry deep in her suitcase. (R. p. 25, ¶ 6; R. pp. 116-17, 126-44). Smith immediately reported to the Respondent's management that there had been a theft. (*Id.*) Following an investigation Smith learned that a hotel employee had used the all-access card issued to her by the hotel to gain entry to Room 618 and stolen the jewelry. (*Id.*) None of Smith's jewelry was ever located or recovered. (*Id.*)

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“Since it is a drastic remedy, ‘summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.’” Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E. 2d 537 (1991).

The standards governing summary judgment are well established, and appellate courts apply the same standard as the trial court. Summary judgment is only appropriate where there is no genuine issue of material fact, and it is clear the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRCF. In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the

evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Koester v. Carolina Rental Ctr., 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994). On a motion for summary judgment, “the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” Hancock v. Mid-S. Mgmt. Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009).

Summary judgment is an extreme remedy to be cautiously invoked.” Hollomon v. McAllister, 289 S.C. 183, 186, 345 S.E.2d 728, 729 (1986). “This means, among other things, that summary judgment must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery.” Baughman, 306 S.C. at 112, 410 S.E. 2d at 543.

### **ARGUMENT**

**I. The Trial Court Erred in Finding Respondent was Entitled to Immunity pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §45-1-40, and in Finding that Respondent Could Not be Liable to Appellant for the Acts of its Employee.**

The trial court’s grant of summary judgment covered three grounds: (1) immunity under the Innkeeper Statute; (2) the Respondent’s employee’s acts falling outside of the scope of employment and Respondents therefore not being liable under the doctrine of *respondeat superior*; and, (3) a finding that Respondent was not negligent in their hiring, firing, supervision or retention of its employee. In her underlying Motion to Reconsider, Smith waived and abandoned all of her claims for liability against Respondent for negligent supervision, hiring and retention. Nevertheless, the trial court erred in its grant of immunity under the Innkeeper statute and in granting summary judgment to Smith’s claims of liability through the doctrine of *respondeat superior*. For the reasons that follow, the trial court’s orders should be reversed and this case remanded for trial.

S.C. Code Ann. §45-1-40 is commonly referred to as “the Innkeeper Statute.” The statute has existed for well over a century and sets forth the conditions, exceptions, and limitations of an “Innkeeper’s” liability for the loss of baggage, money, jewels, and other personal property.<sup>1</sup> In this case, the loss complained of was Ms. Smith’s personal property in the form of jewelry.

S.C. Code Ann. §45-1-40 provides absolute an Innkeeper immunity from liability for a patron’s loss of property in certain circumstances:

Whenever an innkeeper shall post and keep posted in a conspicuous manner in the room occupied by any guest a notice requiring such guest to bolt the door of his room, or on leaving his room to lock the door and leave the keys at the office, and also to deposit such money and jewels as are not ordinarily carried upon the person in the office safe, and the guest shall neglect to comply with the requirements of such notice, the innkeeper shall not be liable for the loss of any baggage of such guest which may be lost or stolen from his room or for the loss of any money or jewels not deposited in the safe.

Id.

However, the legislative grant of immunity is not absolute. Rather, the statute carves out two circumstances where an Innkeeper may be liable for its guests’ losses. In the first instance, the Innkeeper’s liability is limited to a nominal amount and the statute specifically excludes the type of property at issue here (jewelry):

Provided, however, that notwithstanding the provisions of this section any innkeeper who by his own negligence contributes to the loss or damage to baggage or personal property, other than money or jewelry, from guest rooms, or to the loss or damage to money or jewelry from his safe, may be liable to the guest for the actual value of such baggage or personal property or five hundred dollars, whichever is less, or the actual value of such money or jewelry or two thousand dollars, whichever is less.

Id.

---

<sup>1</sup> Smith does not dispute that Respondents are an “Innkeeper” under the statute, nor that the statute applies.

The statute also provides for circumstances where an Innkeeper's absolute immunity or limited liability are removed completely. In the event that an "Innkeeper" itself (or himself under the dated terms of the statute) *causes a guest to lose property by the Innkeeper's willful action*, there is no limitation of liability. The statute reads:

Provided, however, that, notwithstanding the provisions of this section, any innkeeper who by his own willfulness contributes to the loss or damage to the personal property of a guest shall not have his liability limited in any manner by the provisions of this section.

Id. This Court previously summarized this final circumstance in Ippolito v. Hospitality Management Associates, 352 S.C. 563, 575 S.E.2d 562 (Ct. App. 2003). There, the Court wrote that the Innkeeper Statute provides "no protection from liability when an Innkeeper's willful or wanton conduct contributes to the guest's property loss, even where the innkeeper complies with the statute's notice requirements."

In the case at hand, there is no dispute that Columbia Sussex is an "Innkeeper" under the terms of the statute. Columbia Sussex seeks the protections of the statute and Smith argues too that the statute should apply. What the Order below fails to consider is that the Innkeeper Columbia Sussex is a corporation that can only act through its agents or its employee. Here, there is ample evidence that the Innkeeper's employee, using the Innkeeper's all access key entrusted to that employee, took Smith's jewelry. Applying the terms of the statute here, Respondent's Employee (thus, Respondent) by her own willfulness (the willful act of entering, secreting, and stealing Smith's jewelry) contributed to the loss of property by the guest, Ms. Smith. Therefore, application of the Innkeeper Statute to the Innkeeper here requires that Columbia Sussex is not entitled to immunity from liability to Smith, nor is there any limitation on its liability to her.

Under this same analysis, the trial court should not have granted summary judgment on the doctrine of *respondeat superior*. The finding that Columbia-Sussex was not liable for the intentional, criminal acts of its employee works directly against the plain language of the statute governing the Innkeeper's liability. Theft and stealing are willful and wanton acts, and the Innkeeper statute makes clear that if the Innkeeper acts in such a manner, there is no protection.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons above, the trial court's grant of summary judgment to Respondent Columbia Sussex Corporation must be reversed.