THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**  
**Dec 03 2020**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

Appellate Case No. 2019-002099

---

Machelle Smith, ..... Appellant.

v.

Columbia Sussex Corporation  
d/b/a Hilton Head Marriott Resorts and Spa;  
Columbia Sussex Management, LLC; and  
Columbia Properties Hilton Head, LLC, ..... Respondents.

---

**RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

CHRISTIAN STEGMAIER  
[cstegmaier@collinsandlacy.com](mailto:cstegmaier@collinsandlacy.com)  
KELSEY J. BRUDVIG  
[kbrudvig@collinsandlacy.com](mailto:kbrudvig@collinsandlacy.com)  
Post Office Box 12487

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether Appellants Arguments Are Preserved for Review Where Appellant Failed to Present Any Argument Before the Circuit Court at the Summary Judgment Phase?
- II. Whether the Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Respondents and holding that Respondents were immune from liability pursuant to the Innkeeper Statute.
- III. Whether the Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Respondents and holding that Respondents were not liable for the alleged conduct of their employee.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Machel Smith (“Appellant”), a hotel guest of Respondents, avers that her jewelry and cash were stolen from her hotel room by hotel housekeeper Briana Cohen,<sup>1</sup> an employee of Respondents, on April 26, 2013, at the Hilton Head Marriott. She alleges Respondents were negligent in hiring, supervising, and retaining employee Cohen and alleges vicarious liability and *respondeat superior*. [R. pp. 25-26 ¶ 10, 11, 12]. Respondents asserted immunity from liability for the theft under the Innkeeper Statute because Appellant failed to place her valuables in the room safe. [R. p. 35, ¶ 30, 31]. Respondents further asserted that they were not liable for the alleged criminal acts of its employees.

On or about April 26, 2013, Appellant and her husband checked into room 618. [R. p. 25, ¶ 6; p. 116, line 22]. Each room has a sign on the back of the door that a safe is provided for valuable items and that, should guests not utilize the safe, the hotel is not liable for any loss. [R. pp. 158-60]. Prior to attending a spa treatment, Appellant removed her jewelry. [R. p. 25, ¶ 6; p. 126, lines 11-13]. Appellant stated her jewelry included her diamond band wedding ring, diamond engagement ring, emerald and diamond ring, and a diamond pendant. [R. p. 117, lines 12-14]. She could not locate the safe; rather, Appellant decided to hide her jewelry in the pockets

---

<sup>1</sup> Cohen was neither charged with a property offense, such as larceny, nor were Petitioner’s alleged stolen jewelry or cash recovered from Cohen.

of her suitcase. [R. p. 127, line 19 – p. 128, line 6; p. 157]. During Appellant’s spa appointment, her husband attended meetings at a medical conference. [R. p. 126, lines 8-14; p. 129 lines 6-7]. When Appellate and her husband returned to the room, they noted the deadbolt was in the door as if to keep the door ajar but did not think anything of it because the housekeeping cart was on the floor, and they assumed the room was being cleaned. [R. p. 147-54]. Appellant avers that she immediately realized her jewelry—which was stored in her suitcase—was missing upon her return to the room. [R. p. 130, lines 5-7].

After discovering that her jewelry was missing, Appellant’s husband contacted an employee, who returned to Appellant’s room with her husband, and reported to the employee what happened. [R. p. 133, line 4-9]. Law enforcement subsequently arrived and placed the hotel on lockdown. [R. p. 133, line 21 – p. 134, line 18]. Law enforcement advised Appellant that an employee, Cohen, ran out of the hotel and that law enforcement were completing a search of Cohen’s vehicle, cart, and other parts of the premises. [R. p. 135, lines 9-15].

During law enforcement’s investigation, it was discovered that Cohen used a housekeeping key to enter Appellant’s room. [R. p. 147-56]. However, Cohen denied entering Appellant’s room and stated that someone must have taken her key from her cart. While Cohen’s belongings were searched, Appellant’ jewelry was never recovered. [R. p. 147, 154]. Cohen was ultimately terminated.

Respondents were never aware that Cohen had a criminal history. She was hired on April 16, 2013, and indicated she had never been convicted of a felony or misdemeanor. [R. p. 161-64].

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of the purported theft of Appellant's jewelry and cash from her hotel room by a hotel housekeeper/employee of Respondents. Appellant filed her Complaint, alleging Respondents were negligent in hiring, supervising and retaining the employee and alleged vicarious liability and *respondeat superior*. (R. p. 25-26, ¶ 10, 11, 12) Respondents asserted immunity from liability for the alleged theft under the Innkeeper Statute because Appellant failed to place her valuables in the room safe. (R. p. 35, ¶ 30, 31). Appellant's further asserted that to the extent the allegations were true regarding the theft of jewelry, Respondents were not liable for the alleged criminal acts of Cohen.

Following discovery, Respondents moved for summary judgment, requesting the Court expressly rule on the applicability of the Innkeeper Statute. (R. p. 40-42). A hearing on the motion was scheduled for September 26, 2018. However, due to a scheduling conflict, counsel to the parties agreed, upon the Court's consent, to have the motion considered solely on the briefs. (R. p. 165). Respondents subsequently submitted their memorandum in support of motion for summary judgment. (R. p. 43-58). Appellant did not file a memorandum in opposition of the motion for summary judgment. Succinctly stated, Appellant failed to raise any arguments before the Circuit Court opposing Respondents' motion for summary judgment.

Counsel received notice from the Court on December 10, 2018, that the Circuit Court granted Respondents' motion for summary judgment and directed Respondents' counsel to draft the order. (R. p. 166). The Order granting summary judgment was subsequently entered by the Court.<sup>2</sup> (R. p. 3-18).

On February 15, 2019, Appellant filed her Motion to Alter, Amend, and/or reconsider Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCR. (R. p. 98-100). For the first time, Appellant argued that Respondents were not immune from liability pursuant to the Innkeeper Statute. (Id.). The Circuit Court denied Appellant's motion, by order dated November 18, 2019. (R. p. 19).

Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal on December 18, 2019.

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant has appealed only two of the three rulings from the Circuit Court's Order Granting Summary Judgment. Appellant has explicitly abandoned her claims for negligent hiring, training, and retention. Accordingly, the only two rulings from the Circuit Court at issue on appeal are the applicability of the Innkeeper Statute and vicarious liability.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In Olson v. Faculty House of Carolina, Inc., 344 S.C. 194, 544 S.E.2d 38 (Ct. App. 2001), aff'd, 354 S.C. 161, 580 S.E.2d 440 (2003), our Court of Appeals articulated the proper standard of review concerning summary judgment in a negligence case:

Summary judgment is appropriate when it is clear there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRCP; Baird v. Charleston County, 333 S.C. 519, 511 S.E.2d 69 (1999); Vermeer Carolina's, Inc. v. Wood/Chuck Chipper Corp., 336 S.C. 53, 518 S.E.2d 301 (Ct. App. 1999); Young v. South Carolina Dep't of Corrections, 333 S.C. 714, 511 S.E.2d 413 (Ct. App. 1999); see also Wells v. City of Lynchburg, 331 S.C. 296, 501 S.E.2d 746 (Ct. App. 1998) (a trial court should grant motion for summary judgment when pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and moving party is entitled to judgment as matter of law). In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists so as to preclude summary judgment, the evidence and all inferences reasonably drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Strother v. Lexington County Recreation Comm'n, 332 S.C. 54, 504 S.E.2d 117 (1998); Pye v. Aycock, 325 S.C. 426, 480 S.E.2d 455 (Ct. App. 1997).

Id. at 200-01, 544 S.E.2d at 41; see also Glenn v. School Dist. No. Five of Anderson County, 294 S.C. 530, 533, 366 S.E.2d 47, 49 (Ct. App. 1988) (stating during a review of a grant of summary judgment on appeal, the appellate court's focus is driven by its reading of the complaint).

Our appellate courts have further stated that when a plaintiff is faced with a motion for summary judgment, the plaintiff cannot defeat the motion by relying

upon the mere allegations of her complaint, but must disclose the facts the plaintiff intends to rely on by affidavit or other proof. Shupe v. Settle, 315 S.C. 510, 516-17, 445 S.E.2d 651, 655 (Ct. App. 1994); Dyer v. Moss, 284 S.C. 208, 325 S.E.2d 69 (Ct. App. 1985). “A conclusory statement as to the ultimate issue in a case is not sufficient to create a genuine issue of fact for purposes of resisting summary judgment.” Germann v. New York Life Ins. Co., 286 S.C. 34, 331 S.E.2d 385 (Ct. App. 1985). Where the plaintiff relies solely upon the pleadings, files no counter-affidavits, and makes no factual showing in opposition to a motion for summary judgment, the Circuit Court is required under Rule 56 to grant summary judgment, if, under the facts presented by the defendant, he was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Humana Hosp.-Bayside v. Lightle, 305 S.C. 214, 216, 407 S.E.2d 637, 638 (1991) (citing Garrett v. Reese, 262 S.C. 327, 329, 204 S.E.2d 432, 433 (1974)).

In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court must apply the same standard as the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCP. Quail Hill, LLC v. County of Richland, 387 S.C. 223, 692 S.E.2d 499 (2010).

### **LAW/ANALYSIS**

Appellant failed to submit any memorandum, law, or argument at the summary judgment phase of this case. Appellant first raised the issues now raised on appeal in a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion. Accordingly, Appellant’s arguments are

not preserved for review.

Alternatively, to the extent the arguments are preserved for review, the Circuit Court did not err in holding Respondents were immune from liability under the Innkeeper Statute where Appellant did not use the designated in-room safe. Additionally, *respondeat superior* does not apply where the employee acted with criminal intent for her own purposes outside the scope of employment. Accordingly, Respondents cannot be held liable for the alleged criminal acts of Cohen.

#### **I. Appellant's Arguments Are Not Preserved for Review**

“There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellant review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) **raised by the appellant**, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” State v. Simmons, 423 S.C. 552, 816 S.E.2d 566 (2018).

An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider. Commercial Credit Loans, Inc. v. Riddle, 334 S.C. 176, 186, 512 S.E.2d 123, 129 (Ct. App. 1999) (“Further, because the transcript of the proceedings below is omitted from the record, it appears the first time Commercial Credit made this argument was in its Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration. Accordingly, this issue is not preserved for our review.”); Patterson v. Reid, 318 S.C. 183, 185, 456 S.E.2d 436, 437 (Ct. App. 1995) (holding that a party cannot use a motion to reconsider, alter, or amend

a judgment to present an issue that could have been raised prior to the judgment but was not).

Further, “[g]enerally, an issue must be raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court to be preserved.” Pye v. Estate of Fox, 369 S.C. 555, 633 S.E.2d 505 (2006). An exception to the rule exists **only** when “the issue has been **properly raised by a Rule 59(e) motion**, and it appears that it is preserved and a second motion is not required if the trial court does not specifically rule on the issue so raised.” Coward Hunt Const. Co., Inc. v. Ball Corp., 336 S.C. 1, 4, 518 S.E.2d 56, 58 (Ct. App. 1999) (quoting James F. Flanagan *South Carolina Civil Procedure* 475 (2d ed. 1996)) (emphasis added). Notably, the Court in Pye, in relying upon the exception articulated in Coward Hunt Const., stated: “The Pyes asserted this theory **both** at the summary judgment hearing and the Rule 59(e) hearing. Consequently, this issue is preserved for our review[.]” Pye, 369 S.C. at 566, 633 S.E.2d at 511 (emphasis added).

Appellant’s arguments are unpreserved for appeal. As an initial matter, Appellant failed to raise any arguments in opposition of Respondents’ motion for summary judgment prior to the Circuit Court’s entry of judgment in favor of Respondents. Appellant, for the first time, contested the applicability of the Innkeeper Statute, in her Rule 59(e), SCRCP motion. Because Appellant’s arguments were improperly raised for the first time on a motion to reconsider,

Appellant's arguments are unpreserved. See Commercial Credit Loans, Inc., 334 S.C. at 186, 512 S.E.2d at 129.

Further, the exception articulated in Coward Hund Const. Co., and discussed in Pye, is inapplicable to the subject case. Specifically, Appellant has failed to satisfy the two prongs: (1) Appellant failed to raise her arguments opposing summary judgment **prior to** the issuance of the order granting summary judgment; and (2) Appellant failed to "properly raise" the issues by a Rule 59(e) motion. See Coward Hund Const. Co., 336 S.C. at 4, 518 S.E.2d at 58.

In opposition to the motion to dismiss, Appellant argued that because the issue of applicability of the Innkeeper Statute was before the Circuit Court by way of Respondents' motion for summary judgment any arguments in opposition of Respondents' position were preserved. However, Appellant failed to cite any case law or other authority providing that an issue raised by one party preserves the arguments in opposition without any arguments or written materials submitted by the party. Indeed, the presumption is in contraction to this Court's rulings regarding preservation. The issue and arguments of the "inapplicability" of the Innkeeper Statute were not considered by the Circuit Court. See Simmons 423 S.C. 552, 816 S.E.2d 566. Further, it is apparent Appellant is attempting to contend that one or both exceptions to the immunity provision of the Innkeeper Statute apply; whether the exceptions apply was not explicitly before the Circuit Court and arguments

(whether oral, written, or other evidence submitted) were not considered by the Circuit Court.

Appellant's opposition to the motion to dismiss further only addresses one ruling of the Circuit Court: Applicability of the Innkeeper Statute. To the extent the simple presentation of applicability of the Innkeeper Statute to be considered by the Circuit Court is sufficient to preserve arguments opposing the applicability of the statute to the facts of this case, Appellant's arguments in opposition of issue preservation do not address the Circuit Court's second ruling: Plaintiff failed to present sufficient evidence creating a question of fact that Respondents are liable for the alleged criminal acts of its employees. For the same reasons articulated supra, Plaintiff failed to present any arguments, facts, evidence, or other materials in opposition of Respondent's arguments for the Circuit Court's consideration of Respondents' motion for summary judgment on this alternative ground.

Accordingly, because Appellant failed to raise or assert any arguments in opposition of the motion for summary judgment, Appellant's appeal must be dismissed or, alternatively, the Circuit Court's Order affirmed.

## **II. Respondents Are Immune From Liability Pursuant to the Innkeeper Statute**

In South Carolina,

[w]hensoever an innkeeper shall post and keep posted in a conspicuous manner in the room occupied by any guest a notice requiring such guest . . . to deposit such money and

jewels as are not ordinarily carried upon the person<sup>[3]</sup> in the office safe, and the guest shall neglect to comply with the requirements of such notice, the innkeeper shall not be liable for the loss of any baggage of such guest which may be lost or stolen from his room or for the loss of any money or jewels not deposited in the safe.

S.C. Code Ann. § 45-1-40 (2015).

The statute provides for limited liability if the loss is caused by the negligence of the Innkeeper. *Id.* The statute continues, “*Provided*, however, that notwithstanding the provisions of this section, any innkeeper who by his own willfulness contributes to the loss or damage to the personal property of a guest shall not have his liability limited in any manner by the provisions of this section. *Id.* (Emphasis in original). “[E]ven if an innkeeper is negligent, so long as the innkeeper properly posts notice, the innkeeper will not be liable for any money or jewelry left in the guest’s room.” *Ippolito v. Hospitality Mgmt. Assoc.*, 352 S.C. 563, 575 S.E.2d 562 (Ct. App. 2003) (interpreting the Innkeeper statute as a matter of first impression).

Appellant summarily states that because Respondents can only act through their employees, the acts as described in the statute which would either limit liability or exclude immunity could only be referring to the acts of the employees. Appellant states—for the first time in her motion for reconsideration and reasserted in her

---

<sup>3</sup> For purposes of this statute, diamond rings have been held to be jewels that are not ordinarily carried upon a person. See *Bischoff v. Days Inn of America, Inc.*, 568 F. Supp. 1065 (D.C.S. 1983).

briefing before this Court—the evidence is clear employee Cohen acted negligently or willfully, and, therefore, the Circuit Court erred in ruling that the Innkeeper Statute provided immunity to Respondents. However, even to the extent Appellant’s reading and applicability of the statute is accepted by this Court, as articulated in Section I, supra, Appellant failed to present to the Circuit Court any arguments or evidence that create a question of fact regarding Respondents negligence or willful conduct. However, Respondents maintain that the plain reading of the statute provides for immunity to Respondents and the alleged acts of Cohen do not limit or eliminate immunity. Indeed, the legislature did not include language within the statute addressing the acts of employees, servants, or agents.

Further, Appellant contends that Respondents could only act through its employees and therefore the negligence referenced in the exception for immunity could only refer to that of its employee (i.e., employee Cohen’s negligence or willful conduct in committing the alleged theft). However, Appellant’s contention fails to consider independent causes of action against the Innkeeper—i.e., negligent hiring, supervision, and training. Appellant has voluntarily abandoned such claims of negligence against Respondents—the Innkeeper. Accordingly, without the clear legislative intent to or language contained within to limit or exclude immunity based on the negligent or willful acts of **its employees**, Respondents are entitled to the immunity afforded by the Innkeeper Statute.

South Carolina courts have not had much opportunity to interpret the Innkeeper Statute, which provides protection to innkeepers for theft of guest's personal property if they fail to put valuables in safe provided by innkeeper. Further, neither the statute, nor case law, provides guidance whether an innkeeper is afforded the same protections under the Statute when Plaintiff alleges theft or negligence on the part of the innkeeper or employee.

Innkeeper statutes in other jurisdictions, such as Ohio<sup>4</sup> and Michigan,<sup>5</sup> have provisions expressly eliminating any protection afforded under the statutes to innkeepers for alleged theft or negligence by an innkeeper or employee. See, e.g., Layton v. Seward Corp., 320 Mich. 418, 31 N.W.2d 678 (1948); World Diamond, Inc. v. Hyatt Corp., 121 Ohio App. 3d 297, 699 N.E.2d 980 (Ct. App. 1997); Busley v. Hotel Wisconsin Realty Co., 166 Wis. 294, 164 N.W. 826 (1917). This view by limited States explicitly reference theft or negligence of employees or agents. The South Carolina Innkeeper Statute does not contain language limiting immunity based on the negligence or thefts of employees or agents.

---

<sup>4</sup> The Ohio Innkeeper statute provides: "An innkeeper shall be liable for a loss of any such property of a guest in his inn caused by the **theft** or negligence of the innkeeper **or his servant**." R.C. 4721.02. (emphasis added).

<sup>5</sup> Michigan's Innkeeper Statute provides: "[E]very innkeeper shall be liable for any loss of the articles of a guest enumerated in this section in the inn, which loss was caused by the **theft** or negligence of the innkeeper or any of **the innkeeper's servants**." M.C.L.A. 427.102.

Other jurisdictions unequivocally limit liability or contain no exceptions for loss caused by employee dishonesty or for the employee's acts, including alleged theft. See Duvall v. Ritz Carlton Hotel Co., 946 F.2d 418, 421 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991) (applying California law) ("These code sections limit the liability of the innkeeper to the statutory amount even if the loss results from theft or intentional tort committed by one of its hotel employees."); Taylor v. Forte Hotels Int'l, 235 Cal. App. 3d 1119, 1 Cal. Rptr. 2d 189 (4th Dist. 1991) ("That limitation on liability applies to losses resulting from theft by employees and to losses from negligence."); Associated Mills, Inc. v. Drake Hotel, Inc., 31 Ill. App. 3d 304, 309-310, 334 N.E.2d 746, 750 (1<sup>st</sup> Dist. 1975) (legislative intent to cap maximum liability even when loss of "property is the result of theft or the fault or negligence of the proprietor or manager or of his agents or employees. . . ."); Nova Stylings, Inc. v. Red Roof Inns, Inc., 242 Kan. 318, 747 P.2d 107 (1987); Kahn v. Hotel Ramada of Nevada, 799 F.2d 199 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1986) (applying Nevada law); Goodwin v. Georgian Hotel Co., 197 Wash. 173, 187, 84 P.2d 681, 687 (1938) ("[I]t intended that the limitation of liability should apply to losses occasioned by the theft of an employee or by the gross negligence of the hotelkeeper or his, or its, employees.").

Importantly, based on the language of innkeeper statutes in states limiting liability in cases of employee theft, the statutes contain explicit language that provide for either limited liability due to employee theft. The Statutes discuss and explicitly

address the situation involving employee theft. Again, the South Carolina legislature failed to include language regarding the acts of employees—language explicitly included in certain states’ innkeeper statutes limiting liability or limiting immunity. See Timmons v. S.C. Tricentennial Commission, 254 S.C. 378, 175 S.E.2d 805 (1970) (“[B]ut where language is clear and explicit, courts cannot rewrite statute and inject matters into statute which are not in legislature’s language[.]”).

A New York court has addressed the New York Innkeeper Statute:

The reason for providing a hotel safe in compliance with § 200 and the reason for limiting a hotel’s liability under § 201 is to protect against just such situations. When a hotel room is let to a guest, the innkeeper has lost a large measure of control and supervision over the hotel room and its contents. While housekeeping and security staff can enter the room at reasonable hours and on notice to any persons present therein, essentially, for most of the time at least, property of a guest which is present in a hotel room can be said to be under the exclusive dominion and control of the hotel guest, rather than the innkeeper.

We have been cited to no case extending the limited immunity provided by statute against the common law liability of innkeepers, where the liability sought to be founded on the innkeeper was based on the exercise of unlawful dominion and control by the innkeeper himself, or his agents and employees acting in the course of their employment; as contrasted with mysterious disappearances due to causes unknown, or criminal acts of third parties or employees acting for themselves rather than for the employer. As noted above, it was only for the latter class of cases that the statutes granted immunity.

Bhattal v. Grand Hyatt-New York, 563 F.Supp. 277 (S.D.N.Y. 1983) (emphasis added). New York cases have consistently held that employee theft was a wrongful

act outside the scope of employment and for his own enrichment. See, e.g., Millhiser v. Beau Site Co., 251 N.Y. 290, 295, 167 N.E. 447, 447 (1929).

Courts generally place liability with the party best positioned to avoid the loss. The economic loss doctrine in tort law holds the objective of the law is to reduce the incidence of loss by placing it on the party in the best position to efficiently avoid it. The “basic function of tort law is to shift the burden of loss from the injured plaintiff to one who is at fault or to one who is better able to bear the loss and prevent its occurrence.” Sidney R. Barrett, Jr., Recovery of Economic Loss in Tort for Construction Defects: A Critical Analysis, 40 S.C.L.REV. 891, 935 (1989). The purpose of a duty in tort is to protect society’s interest in being free from harm, and the cost of protecting society from harm is borne by society in general. Spring Motors Distribs. v. Ford Motor Co., 98 N.J. 555, 489 A.2d 660 (1985).

South Carolina courts have not previously addressed whether the Innkeeper Statute provides for immunity without exception for a guest’s loss. However, the Innkeeper Statute does not contain explicated exception language that the minority of jurisdictions’ legislatures have included, specifically involving the acts of employees. See, e.g., Layton v. Seward Corp., 320 Mich. 418, 31 N.W.2d 678 (1948); World Diamond, Inc. v. Hyatt Corp., 121 Ohio App. 3d 297, 699 N.E.2d 980 (Ct. App. 1997); Busley v. Hotel Wisconsin Realty Co., 166 Wis. 294, 164 N.W. 826 (1917). The language of South Carolina’s Statute is more in line with the

statutes provided for exclusive limited liability for innkeepers. Here, Appellant could best avoid the loss by placing valuables in the safe provided in the room for that express purpose. If she had, Appellant's jewelry and cash would have been safe. To hold otherwise renders Respondents to be Appellant's insurer, which is in direct contravention of the Innkeeper Statute.

Further, even to the extent the two exceptions noted with the Innkeeper statute are considered to exclude or limit immunity to Respondents, Appellant failed to preserve for review arguments, issues, and/or presentation/consideration of evidence to create a question of fact that the two exceptions apply in this case. Indeed, Appellant readily admits that the Innkeeper Statute applies to Respondent. Accordingly, Appellant can only now argue that an exception to full immunity applies. However, Appellants failed to preserve for this Court's review such arguments since the arguments and issue regarding applicability of the exceptions for full immunity were not before or considered by the Circuit Court.

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